1981

Barbara J. Warren v. Robert L. Warren : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 21, 1979, plaintiff filed the complaint for divorce. Following extensive discovery and numerous appearances before the court, the action was tried before the Honorable Peter F. Leary on September 5, 1980, and September 11, 1980. By a memorandum decision of November 14, 1980, the plaintiff-appellant, hereinafter "Mrs. Warren", was awarded a decree of divorce. In dividing the real and personal property of the parties, and in ordering the assumption and payment of marital liabilities, the trial court adopted without modification the proposed division of the marital estate and proposed division of the marital liabilities which had been presented by defendant-respondent, hereinafter "Mr. Warren". The trial court awarded additional personal property to Mr. Warren. Following a hearing on December 3, 1980, concerning the clarification of the court's memorandum decision, the decree of divorce was signed on December 16, and was entered on December 17, 1980. Custody of the one minor child of the parties was awarded to Mrs. Warren. During the pendency of this appeal, that child has graduated from high school and is now of majority.

The parties were married in San Antonio, Texas, on June 27, 1952. At the time of the marriage, Mr. Warren had just completed his sophomore year of college. While he

worked part-time for two months out of the year, he was a full-time student for nine months out of the year, and Mrs. Warren was the sole support of the family. (Transcrip: (Tr.) at 60-61; Record (R.) at 434-435.) Mr. Warren attende Rice Institute in Houston, Texas for five years. Mrs. Warr: paid his expenses for that attendance and in addition provided support and maintenance as well as luxuries such as three sports cars. (Tr. 61; R. 435.)

Following his graduation, Mr. Warren began to work for LCB in Dallas, Texas, the company now being known as E Systems. Mr. Warren has worked for this company for 26 years, during which time his income and benefits have increased dramatically. In the year before the divorce trial, 1979, Mr. Warren's gross income was \$46,628. (Tr. 152; R. 526.) In that same year, Mrs. Warren's gross income from a legacy was \$8,048.09. (Tr. 206; R. 580.)

Mrs. Warren's independent source of income is a trust and bank stock acquired from her father prior to her marriage. The principal of her legacy was, at the time of trial, approximately \$97,500. Despite the extreme differences in their income, Mrs. Warren's legacy was, many times during the marriage, depleted in order to pay the income tax liabilities of the parties. (Tr. 154; R. 528.)

In April of 1977, when Barbara's income was \$10,200, \$4,300 was applied to an Internal Revenue Service bill. (Tr. 161; R. 535.) Mr. Warren, incredibly, testified that of the 1979 \$5,200 tax obligation, one-half of the obligation is attributable to Mrs. Warren's income dividends and interest. (Tr. 185-186; R. 559-560.) From the principal of the trust, \$146,599.10 was contributed to the marriage (Tr. 57; R. 431.)

Mrs. Warren testified that the legacy was used for family expenses because Mr. Warren refused to provide for the family. (Tr. 59; R. 433.) In the years immediately prior to the divorce, pleas that Mr. Warren contribute to the expenses of the family produced only feeble responses. Mr. Warren's contributions sunk to the paltry sum of \$450 during one of these years. It fell upon Mrs. Warren to pay the children's living expenses, dental bills and educational expenses. (Tr. 71; R. 445.)

The trial court found that Mrs. Warren, who is 49 years of age, is "capable of being employed although she has never been employed, has no skills and is suffering from medical problem [sic] relating to her hands." This assumption, clearly inconsistent with recognized facts,

resulted in Mrs. Warren being awarded alimony of \$400 per month for a 48-month period.

According to Mr. Warren, the personal property either inherited by Mrs. Warren or awarded to her by the decree of divorce is worth \$161,000. (Tr. 180; R. 554.) This value, which was accepted by the court in its decree of divorce, is without foundation. Even the appraiser of the property, Thomas A. Olsen, a witness for the defendant, stated that he had spent little better than an hour in his appraisal of the personal property in the home and that this was insufficient time to perform a valid or satisfactory appraisal. (Tr. 15; R. 389.) Values of specific items of property declared by Mr. Warren are on their face speculative. For example, in defendant's Exhibit 21-D, Mr. Warren values china and art objects at \$17,000 and a large oil painting at \$2,500. Yet Mr. Warren had no recollection of the name of the painter, did not itemize the art objects and offered no foundation for this value other than his estimate of the replacement value of the property.

The value of the personal property ultimately awarded to Mrs. Warren was in fact an estimate of replacement value, without any relation to the actual market value of the property. (See testimony of Thomas A. Olsen, Tr. 22; R. 389.)

Testimony of William C. McConahay, Tr. 30; R. 404; Testimony of Carl G. Walberg, Tr. 38; R. 412.)

In addition to his substantial income, Mr. Warren acquired a substantial interest in stock. Valued according to the figures quoted by the Wall Street Journal on the day before the trial, Mr. Warren owned \$73,840.50 of currently traded marketable stock. Furthermore, he had a pension plan with a present value of \$20,247 and a future value estimated by Mr. Warren at \$51,000. (Tr. 193; R. 567.) During the marriage, Mr. Warren developed a capability to earn a substantial income (he estimated that he had made approximately \$500,000 in his lifetime), a capability which remained with him at the time of the decree of divorce.

On the other hand, Mrs. Warren, who contributed to the marriage approximately \$300,000 from the principal and interest of her legacy, was at the time of the decree of divorce and according to the judge's findings, not employed, without skills, and suffering from a medical problem related to her hands. She is left with a depleted inheritance with a greatly reduced value for generation of future income. The decrease in the value of the trust was directly related to her support of the marriage. It was for the purchase of the second marital home that money was withdrawn from the

principal of her inheritance. (Tr. 58; R. 432.) Money was also withdrawn to pay for the day-to-day living expenses of the family and to provide family necessities such as medical care (Tr. 71; R. 445). This same legacy conveniently provided Mr. Warren with an education which permitted him to substantially increase his own earning capacity and provide him with luxuries in life. (Tr. 60; R. 434.)

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED HIS DISCRETION AND WAS MISTAKEN AS TO THE APPLICABLE LAW IN THE DECREE OF DIVORCE.

A. The standard for this court's review of the decree of divorce.

This court has on innumerable occasions held that a divorce action is equitable in nature and that the ruling of a trial judge is favored with a presumption of propriety and accuracy. This court has also held that it can review questions of both law and fact. King v. King, 25 Utah 2d 163, 478 P.2d 492 (1970); appeal after remand 27 Utah 2d 303 495 P.2d 823. Though they are favored, findings, judgments and decrees of the trial court are still subject to review for the trial court's discretion is not without limitation. DeRose v. DeRose, 19 Utah 2d 77, 426 P.2d 221 (1967). Should

the trial court fail to correctly apply principles of law or equity, or should evidence clearly preponderate against a finding, or should a judgment or decree so fail to do equity that a clear abuse of discretion is manifested, then this Court will take the appropriate corrective action necessary. Watson v. Watson, 561 P.2d 1072 (Utah 1977). When such error has occurred, the Supreme Court may review the evidence and make its own findings and may substitute its judgment for that of the trial court when the ends of justice so require. Harding v. Harding, 26 Utah 2d 277, 488 P.2d 308 (1971).

On appeal, this court may review a case, weigh evidence and may substitute its judgment for that of the trial court. Graziano v. Graziano, 7 Utah 2d 187, 321 P.2d 931 (1958). If after such a review it is found that the decree works an injustice contrary to equity and conscience, this court may revise the decree. Christensen v. Christensen, 21 Utah 2d 263, 444 P.2d 511 (1968).

B. The trial court abused its discretion by awarding an unwarranted majority of the property to Mr. Warren.

The trial court adopted, without modification, the proposed distribution of the marital property submitted on behalf of the defendant. Defendant's Exhibit 31-D. In so

doing, the court adopted the property or asset values which had been stipulated to by the parties or which were Mr. Warren's estimate. Mr. Warren's stated values grossly exaggerate the actual value of the property awarded to Mrs. Warren, particularly when compared to the actual value of the property awarded to Mr. Warren.

Within the pre-trial order, Mr. Warren agreed that the legacy left to Mrs. Warren, which she had acquired prior to the marriage, was to remain the personal property of Mrs. Warren. This legacy had a value of approximately \$97,500 and had in principal been reduced during the marriage by approximately \$146,500. The reduction of the principal had been utilized for the benefit of the marriage and in support of the family. (Tr. 57; R. 431; Tr. 59; R. 433.) From the marital estate, Mrs. Warren was awarded one-half of the agreed upon equity in the home or \$23,500. The balance of the marital estate awarded to Mrs. Warren was comprised of personal property valued on a replacement basis by the defendant or by experts chosen by the defendant. In particular, the one appraiser who testified, Thomas Olsen, stated that he had insufficient time in which to perform a valid or satisfactory appraisal. (Tr. 15; R. 389.)

On the otherhand, the portion of the marital estate awarded to Mr. Warren was substantially liquid and growth oriented or income producing. Mr. Warren was awarded stocks traded on the major exchanges and valued at the time of the divorce action at \$45.75 per share; he was also awarded a retirement fund with a present value of over \$20,000 and a future value of \$51,000. In addition, Mr. Warren was permitted to retain a substantial amount of his current income having been ordered to pay only \$400 per month for a period of 48 months as alimony.

The trial court's misunderstanding of the value of the property may be found in the internal inconsistencies in the defendant's own testimony and that of his experts with respect to the value. The defendant offered replacement value estimates or estimates of value without any reasonable foundation, for example his estimate of the value of a painting. (Tr. 246; R. 620.) In the pre-trial order, Mrs. Warren was ordered to provide supporting documentation reflecting purchase dates, costs, and present value of those items of personal property located within the home. Later, at trial, the court expressed its intention to have the property of the parties appraised. (Tr. 249; R. 623.) However, this appraisal was apparently never performed, and

the document presented by Mrs. Warren pursuant to the pre-trial order, Exhibit 5-P, was ignored by the court. The values accepted by the trial court were contrary to statements made by Mrs. Warren that the appraisals submitted by Mr. Warren were grossly exaggerated. (Tr. 73; R. 447; R. 146; R. 520.) Mrs. Warren's former counsel never elicited from her a valuation of the property.

In Read v. Read, 594 P.2d 871 (Utah 1979), the court recognized that the discretion afforded the trial court in allocating property and financial resources is not without limit. In that case, approximately 90 percent of the assets accumulated by the parties during a 25-year marriage were awarded to the plaintiff wife. This court stated the purpose of a property settlement should not be to impose punishment upon either party. Rather, the court is to consider many factors in making a property settlement in a divorce proceeding bearing in mind the ultimate goal of arranging the best possible allocation of the property and the economic resources of the parties so that the parties can pursue their lives in as happy and useful a manner as possible.

If it appears that the decree is so discordant with an equitable allocation that it will more likely lead to further difficulties and distress than to serve the desired

objective, then a reappraisal of the decree must be undertaken.

594 P.2d at 872. In Read v. Read, the court recognized the inconsistencies and unresolved questions in the trial record regarding the values of property and as a consequence remanded the case to the trial court for a further hearing concerning the nature and extent of the parties assets and liabilities. In particular, the court questioned the value of an unimproved parcel of real property at \$60,000 when the only credible evidence concerning its value indicated it to be worth \$30,000 and \$35,000.

Similar inconsistencies and unresolved questions may be found in the trial of the action now before the court. Even the trial court questioned the accuracy of the estimates of the value of personal property and indicated the need for an objective appraisal of the property. Such questions of the accuracy of the value of the property arises naturally when one sees estimates of \$17,000 for art objects that are not enumerated, or values of paintings without any reference to the artist. Questions also arise concerning the valuation of jewelry at \$19,886 without any evidence whatsoever of the present market or actual value of such jewelry.

In Exhibit 16-D received from the defendant, a statement is made by an appraiser that the personal contents

of the home were worth a minimum of \$50,000 on an immediate sale basis and had a retail replacement value of near \$100,000. This appraisal was based upon a walk-through of the home, which the appraiser himself testified was insufficient as the foundation for an accurate appraisal. The defendant then valued this property at \$161,000, this final value being the one accepted by the court. The defendant agreed that Mrs. Warren be awarded \$71,732 in inherited personal property and \$44,240 in personal property acquired during the marriage. Mr. Warren also claimed (Exhibit 31-D) that his valuation of the property awarded to Mrs. Warren compared favorably with the property he desired to be awarded. This comparison is inaccurate in light of the very different types of property; his is income-producing and hers of little value to her support.

When viewed without the taint of over-valued personal property, and considering only that portion of the marital estate (exclusive of Mrs. Warren's legacy) comprised of stocks, retirement plans and real property, Mr. Warren was awarded 84 percent of such property. It is this type of property distribution which has been found to be excessive and inequitable and one which results in the imposition of a

penalty upon a party, in this case Mrs. Warren. (See, Read v. Read, supra.)

An indication of the misunderstanding of Mrs. Warren's needs may be found in the court's statement with reference to Mrs. Warren that this was a case of "what I have is mine and what was acquired through the endeavors of my husband is ours." (Tr. 263; R. 637.)

In Pope v. Pope, 589 P.2d 752 (Utah 1978), the court approved a distribution of the net value of property which gave 65 percent to the plaintiff wife and 35 percent to the defendant husband. In response to the husband's claim that such a division was inequitable, the court pointed out that the defendant husband was awarded income-producing assets of the family. It was also noted that the defendant husband had two college degrees and several years experience in operating his businesses and thus was reasonably assured of future earnings and profits from his business activities. On the other hand, the plaintiff wife had no college education and was unemployed at the time of trial. The court had awarded her no alimony.

The trial court's decree of divorce in this case is contrary to the equitable principle of Pope v. Pope, for it awards a substantial majority of the total property, almost

all of the income-producing property and that which assures future earnings, to the educated, experienced and employable husband. The decree leaves little but grossly over-valued personal property to the unemployable, uneducated wife and mother of 29 years.

It may be that the trial court misunderstood the nature of Mr. Warren's future income. The accepted property distribution as submitted by the defendant, Exhibit 31-D, reflects a value of a retirement fund of \$20,247 and of a stock option plan of \$19,388, conditioned by defendant's statement that these were "assets realizable only upon retirement--not liquid." This was clearly a question in the court's mind as the court requested a detailed explanation of the pension plan. (Tr. 266; R. 640.) There is no evidence in the record that this information was ever provided. Mr. Warren's own testimony suggests that Exhibit 31-D is not an accurate statement of the value of the pension plan and stock option plan either in the future or at the present. The following exchange occurred between the court and Mr. Warren (Tr. 253; R. 627):

THE COURT: Mr. Warren, I have a couple of questions. In connection with your pension, if you were to die tomorrow, what would happen with your pension?

MR. WARREN: It would revert to my heirs on an annuity basis, I think.

THE COURT: Well, would it or wouldn't it?

ANSWER: I'm not really sure. I've got somewhere the information on it.

THE COURT: Well--.

ANSWER: And it would revert to them I believe at that lump sum value of \$50,000 rather than the discounted present value of \$20,000.

Contrary to his statement on Exhibit 31-D that the assets were realizable only upon retirement, Mr. Warren testified that the stock option plan was available to him one year after separation from the company (Tr. 194; R. 568) and that he was 80 percent vested in the company-funded pension plan.

What Mr. Warren was concerned about was the inclusion of his retirement fund at an accurate value into the marital estate. The propriety of the consideration of such a retirement fund as part of the assets available for distribution was upheld by this court in Ehninger v. Ehninger, 569 P.2d 1104 (Utah 1977). In that case, the dissatisfied husband contended that "the trial court erred in placing a value upon and making a division of . . . the defendant's profit sharing plan, the purpose of which [was]

for his retirement" and the benefit of which would be available to him only upon retirement. 569 P.2d at 1104. This court held that the inclusion of the husband's vested but not immediately available, interest in his retirement fund was appropriate. 569 P.2d at 1106. Moreover, this court recently upheld a property distribution which considered as a family asset the husband's accrued interest in a retirement fund. In Englert v. Englert, 576 P.2d 1274 (Utah 1978), the husband contended that:

His retirement fund is not "property" within the meaning of our statute and should not be so considered in determining the rights of the parties under the divorce decree. He reasons that because that fund was accumulated as a result of his service and tenure, it is inequitable to permit [his wife] to participate therein.

576 P.2d at 1275.

This contention was rejected and this court approved the inclusion of the fund at its accrued value at the time of trial. The future value as testified to by Mr. Warren of \$51,000 was based upon a perhaps unrealistic 8 percent interest rate. Such a low interest rate no doubt greatly undervalues the retirement fund.

Throughout the trial, Mr. Warren made gratuitous statements in an attempt to convince the court of his

impoverished condition and the wealth of his wife. In discussing his purchase of stock commencing in 1976, he stated "I had no estate whatever, because we had spent all of my income for all the years up until then, and I was planning for my retirement". (Tr. 190; R. 564.) In the same exchange with his counsel he admits that the company maintained a stock option retirement program and a company funded pension plan. Mr. Warren knew that Mrs. Warren had contributed heavily to the welfare and benefit of the household, had put him through school and that together they had amassed a significant estate, by his figures worth over \$150,000 in personal property alone. (Tr. 155; R. 529; Tr. 168; R. 542.) Mr. Warren also does not disclose that the stock valued at \$45.75 on the day before the trial was purchased at less than one half of that value. (See, Defendant's Second Amended Answers to Interrogatories, R. 87.)

Mr. Warren also inaccurately states that his wife did not need alimony because she had a separate estate of almost \$200,000. (Tr. 233; R. 607.) Mr. Warren must have known that this was an overvaluation of her estate as he admitted that he had prepared the tax returns throughout the marriage and as a consequence would have to have known what her estate was and that he was aware of bank documents which

stated the value of the estate at \$87,942. (Tr. 244; R. 618.)

C. The trial court abused its discretion by ordering that Mrs. Warren pay a disproportionate amount of the marital liabilities.

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