1981

Barbara J. Warren v. Robert L. Warren : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

In this appeal Plaintiff/Appellant has petitioned this court to review the judgment of the trial court regarding the distribution of property and obligations accumulated by the parties during the marriage; the award of alimony; and the trial court's failure to award reasonable attorney's fees.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Following extensive pre-trial negotiations and pre-trial order, this matter was tried before the Honorable Peter F. Leary. During two days of trial, the court heard testimony from seven witnesses, including four expert witnesses testifying as to the value of personal property accumulated by the parties; received into evidence eighteen exhibits; and subsequently took the matter under advisement for a period in excess of 60 days. Based upon the evidence presented at the time of trial, plaintiff was awarded real and personal property valued at \$267,246.00, or 66% of the total, and defendant was awarded real and personal property valued at \$135,540.00, or 34% of the total. All real

and personal property awarded in the decree of divorce was valued either by appraisal or by stipulation of the parties.

The court further ordered that Plaintiff pay \$10,631.00 of the debts and obligations incurred during the marriage or 58% of the total, and that defendant pay \$7,567.00 of the debts and obligations so incurred, or 42% of the total, not the 72% - 28% split alledged in appellants brief.

In addition the court awarded Plaintiff \$400.00 per month alimony, to be paid for a period of 48 months, with the right of Plaintiff to petition the court for an extension of payment of alimony. Furthermore, Defendant was awarded a lien against the home of the parties for his share of the equity, to be paid by Plaintiff to Defendant upon occurrence of the first of the following events: re-marriage of the Plaintiff; Plaintiff ceases to reside in the home or any part thereof is rented; a non-related male resides in the home; the minor child graduates from high school or is otherwise emancipated.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff has petitioned this court to remand the case for a reconsideration of the property distribution; debt distribution; award of alimony; and award of attorney's fees. In the alternative, Plaintiff requests this court to review the evidence presented at the trial and fashion its own award.

It is the position of the Defendant/Respondent that the judgment of the trial court is consistent with the pre-trial order and the extensive evidence presented at the time of trial;

that the trial court went to great length to review and consider the evidence; and therefore, the judgment of the trial court should be affirmed, and this court ought to award Defendant his costs and attorney's fees on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The parties were married in San Antonio, Texas on June 27, 1952. Four children were born as issue of the marriage, all of whom have now reached the age of eighteen years, and none of whom are living with either the Plaintiff or the Defendant. At the time of the marriage, Defendant had completed his Junior year at Rice University, and was completing studies for his bachelor's degree in Engineering. While completing his studies, and in order to assist in supporting his family, Defendant worked part-time during the nine month school year, and full-time during the summer months. (Tr.168; R.542.)

Following his graduation from Rice University, Defendant became employed with Chance-Vought Aircraft, a company now known as E-Systems, his present employer. At the time of the divorce, Defendant's net monthly income was \$1,887.00 (Exhibit 29-D), which sum, after the payment of alimony to the Plaintiff, is reduced to \$1,487.00. Although Plaintiff was not employed, she had independent income in the sum of \$800.00 per month from a trust standing in her name at National Bank of Commerce, San Antonio, Texas (Exhibit 22-D), and additionally was receiving \$600.00 per month in stock dividends from shares of National Bancshares stock standing in her name

(Pretrial Order, page 4, paragraph R), for a combined gross monthly income of \$1,400.00. After taking into consideration the \$400.00 per month alimony payment from Defendant, Plaintiff has available to her a gross monthly income of \$1,800.00. This does not take into consideration income she may earn from future employment.

Appellant's brief goes into great detail regarding depletion of the legacy she received at the time of her father's death. The fact of the matter is, and based on the pleadings and evidence submitted at the time of trial, the legacy received by Plaintiff and placed in trust with National Bank of Commerce on May 28, 1956, was valued at that time at \$66,386.01. (Plaintiff's Pre-Trial Memorandum - Page 1).

The principal balance of the trust on March 31, 1980 was valued at \$87,942.00 (Exhibit 22-D), and at the time of trial, the trust was valued at \$98,126.00. (Tr.220; R.594.) This in spite of the fact that there were distributions from the trust during a 23 1/2 year period amounting to \$146,599.10. (Exhibit 22-D) Plaintiff would like this court to believe that the entire \$146,599.10 was contributed to the marriage of the parties for the purpose of keeping body and soul together, and that Defendant contributed little or nothing to the marriage. The uncontroverted evidence, however, illustrates rather vividly that during their 29 year marriage, Defendant was always employed on a full-time basis, with the exception of two years when he was completing his education and working part-time. (Tr.168; R.542.) As a result of his employment, Defendant

contributed in excess of \$500,000.00 to the support and maintenance of the family unit. (Tr.174 & 175; R.548 & 549.) As one would reasonably expect from a marriage of 29 years, Defendant's income and the distribution from Plaintiff's trust were largely co-mingled and used by the parties to manage and pay the expenses of the family unit and provide the family with some of the luxuries in life. (Tr.176; R.550.)

During their marriage, the parties accumulated a sizeable estate of real and personal property. In addition, during the marriage, Plaintiff inherited some antiques and other miscellaneous items of personal property. The only evidence before the court with regard to the value of the real and personal property of the parties was the testimony of expert witnesses, the exhibits received at the time of trial, and the testimony of the Defendant. Throughout these lengthy divorce proceedings, Plaintiff has had repeated opportunities to present evidence or proffer testimony as to the extent and estimated value of the real and personal property inherited and accumulated by the parties during the marriage. On February 13, 1980, Defendant issued Interrogatories specifically directed at having Plaintiff provide information as to the extent and estimated value of the real and personal property owned by the parties. She failed to answer the Interrogatories. Defendant filed a motion to compel Plaintiff to answer the requested Interrogatories. The court ordered Plaintiff to file written answer to the Interrogatories, however, Plaintiff failed to abide by the court order. In the pre-trial order Plaintiff was again ordered to provide Defendant with estimated values of items of personal

property accumulated during the marriage. Again Plaintiff failed to abide by the court order.

The Defendant on the other hand, consistent with the pre-trial order, arranged for appraisers to inventory and value the personal property of the parties. In addition, Defendant arranged for a stock broker to testify as to the value of stocks and other marketable securities owned by the parties at the time of trial. Even though the court had specifically ordered the appraisal of the parties personal property in the home, Plaintiff refused to cooperate, and in fact made it extremely difficult for Defendant and the appraiser to inventory and value the property located in the home. The appraisers collectively valued the personal property in the home at \$126,781.00 (Exhibits 16-D, 18-D; 19-D), excluding a substantial amount of sterling silver which was not available at the time of the appraisal. Defendant in his inventory of the personal property located in the home, including the sterling silver not viewed by the appraisers, estimated the total value of personal property in the home at \$161,113.00 (Exhibit 21-D). If Defendant's estimate is reduced by \$16,500, the value he attributed to the silver and included in his estimate, but not included in the value arrived at by the appraisers, Defendant's estimate now reduced to \$144,613.00 is very similar to the professional appraisals.

In his suggested division of marital estate, and of the items of real and personal property not stipulated to, Defendant requested and received 1,214 shares of E-Systems Stock; his ESY Pension; his ESOP Retirement Plan; and some items of personal property valued at \$7,244.00. The value of the items

awarded to the Defendant, including his one-half equity in the home and some miscellaneous items of personal property awarded Defendant in the pre-trial order totals \$135,540.00. (Exhibit 31-D). The value of property awarded to Plaintiff pursuant testimony at the time of trial; Exhibit 31-D; the pre-trial order; and stipulation of the parties totals \$267,246.00. On the basis of \$402,786.00, the total value of property at the time of trial, Plaintiff was awarded 66% and Defendant was awarded 34%. If Plaintiff's inherited property is ignored, she still received \$98,030.00 or 42% of the property accumulated by the parties and Defendant received \$135,540.00 or 58%. Furthermore, the ESY Pension Plan and the ESOP Retirement Plan cumulatively valued on Exhibit 31-D at \$39,635.00 is not available for monthly distribution to the Defendant until age 60, thereby substantially reducing the lump sum value and liquidity of the property awarded to the Defendant.

ISSUES PRESENTED BY APPELLANT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AND WAS MISTAKEN AS TO THE APPLICABLE LAW IN THE DECREE OF DIVORCE.

A. The Standard For This Court's Review Of The Decree Of Divorce.

This court has on many occasions held that an action in a divorce is largely an equitable proceeding. Wilson v Wilson, 5 Utah 2d 79, 296 P.2d 977 (1956). There are many holdings that this court may review cases of this nature and substitute its judgment for that of the trial court under proper

circumstances. (See, Wilson v Wilson, supra.)

In Christensen v Christensen, 21 Utah 2d 263, 444 P.2d 511 (1968) this court recognized the unique position of the trial judge when it concluded:

Even though it is the established rule that divorce cases being in equity, it the duty of this court to review and weigh the evidence,² it is equally true that we have invariably recognized the advantaged position of the trial judge and given deference to his findings and judgment, declaring that they should not be upset unless the evidence clearly preponderates against them, or unless the decree works such an injustice that equity and good conscience demand that it be revised.

444 P.2d at 512.

In Bader v Bader, 18 Utah 2d 407, 424 P.2d 150, (1968) this court in again recognizing the advantaged position of the trial judge in matters of allocating property and income, the court stated:

It would lead to intolerable instability of judgments if this court should assume the prerogative and accept the responsibility of merely second guessing a trial judge who has done a conscientious job of attempting to make a just and equitable allocation of the property and income of the parties in regard to alimony and support money, as the trial judge appears to have done here. It is due to this fact, taken into consideration with the nature of the trial judge's authority and duty, and his advantaged position, that in such matters he is allowed a comparatively wide latitude of discretion which will not be disturbed in the absence of a clear abuse, a circumstance which we have not found here.

424 P.2d at 151.

B. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion By Awarding
An Unwarranted Majority Of The Property To Mr. Warren.

Plaintiff alleges that the trial court adopted without modification the proposed distribution of marital property pursuant to Exhibit 31-D. Plaintiff, either prior to the trial or during the trial made absolutely no effort to submit either to opposing counsel, or the trial court, any evidence or testimony regarding the value of the real and personal property owned by the parties, nor did she provide any evidence with respect to what she believed would be an equitable property distribution. (Tr.259; R.633).

Plaintiff had many opportunities to present evidence or testimony regarding values and proposed distribution of property accumulated during the marriage. In fact, on February 13, 1980, Defendant served Interrogatories upon Plaintiff specifically directed to obtain that information. She failed to answer the Interrogatories. On April 28, 1980, she was ordered by the court to file answers, but again she failed to do so. In the Pre-Trial Order dated July 22, 1980, she was again ordered to provide her estimated value of items of personal property accumulated during the marriage, and her proposed distribution of property. (Pre-Trial Order. Page 6). Again, Plaintiff failed to comply with the court's order.

It would, therefore, appear a bit presumptuous on the part of Plaintiff to now fault the trial court for presumably having weighed in its decision, the testimony of Defendant and expert witnesses, each of whom provided testimony

regarding the value of personal property of the parties. Plaintiff should not now be allowed to petition this court and attempt to discredit the well reasoned judgment of the trial court.

Plaintiff, on page 10 of her brief alleges that Defendant's estimated value of personal property grossly exaggerates the actual value of the property. How can such a statement be given any credibility, particularly in light of the fact that Plaintiff has made absolutely no effort to either value the personal property herself or to have the property appraised by outside independent appraisers.

Defendant, on the other hand, made a sincere effort to itemize and value all of the items of personal property located in the home of the parties. His effort in that regard resulted in an estimated value of \$161,113.00. (Exhibit 21-D). In addition, Defendant arranged for independent appraisers, at his own expense, and as directed by the Honorable Judge Rigtrup at the pre-trial conference to appraise the personal property of the parties, which resulted in an estimated value of \$126,781.00. (Exhibit D-16, D-18 and D-19). It should be noted that because the items were not available, the appraisers excluded certain items of sterling silver place settings which Defendant had valued at \$16,500.00. (Exhibit 21-D). If the sterling silver is deducted from Defendant's estimated value per Exhibit 21-D, Defendant's estimate is only \$17,832.00 higher than the appraisals submitted by the experts at the time of trial.

The trial judge in his determination as to the disposition of the real and personal property of the parties must have recognized that Defendant's estimates were his own opinion, and that perhaps he had little professional expertise in appraising personal property of that nature. However, the Court also seemed to recognize that the estimates of Defendant were very similar to the appraisals submitted by the expert witnesses. Therefore, some credibility must be given his estimates, particularly in light of the fact that Plaintiff has never made any attempt to provide estimates or expert testimony to the contrary.

As a result of the evidence and testimony at the time of trial, and the stipulation of the parties as contained in the Pre-Trial Order, Plaintiff was awarded stocks, bonds, and other liquid, marketable securities valued at the time of trial at \$112,091.00 (Tr.220; R.594, Tr. 221; R.595, Tr..243; R.617) and awarded antique furnishings valued at \$57,125.00. (Exhibit 21-D). Additionally, Plaintiff was awarded household furnishings, jewelry, furs, Saab automobile and one-half of the equity in the home for an additional award of \$98,030.00. (Exhibit 31-D), for a total award of \$267,246.00.

Defendant on the other hand received his E-Systems stock, his non-liquid retirement benefits, one-half of the equity in the home and some miscellaneous items of personal property, for a total value of \$135,540.00. (Exhibit 31-D). Of the total property owned by the parties at the time of trial, Plaintiff was awarded property valued at \$267,246.00, or 66% of

the total, and Defendant was awarded property valued at \$135,540.00 or 34% of the total. If the stocks, securities and antiques awarded to Plaintiff valued at \$169,216.00 are deleted from Plaintiff's award, she still received property valued at \$98,030.00, or 42% of the total property.

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